STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Greenwood County

RECEIVED

Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

FEB 11 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TERRANCE L. BLAND,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002406

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOANNA K. DELANY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the trial court erred when it failed to direct a verdict of acquittal on first degree burglary where there was no substantial circumstantial evidence appellant entered the dwelling without consent?

2.

Whether the trial court erred where it ruled a search warrant was not needed for gunshot residue testing where the suspect refused to consent and where the judge erroneously ruled in the alternative that the search warrant obtained was valid since it did not specify how the prior incident provided probable cause to believe appellant was the shooter in this incident?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 10, 2016, appellant was indicted by a Greenwood County Grand Jury for discharging a firearm into a dwelling; three counts of attempted murder; failure to stop for a blue light; and first degree burglary. R. p. 464 – 475. On November 3, 2017, a Greenwood County Grand Jury indicted appellant for first degree assault and battery. R. 476 – 477.

Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable William P. Keesley and a jury, November 6 – 9, 2017. R. 1. Michael Gambrell represented appellant. Josh Thomas and Wade Downtin represented the state. R. 1.

Appellant was convicted of discharging a firearm into a dwelling, failure to stop for a blue light, first degree burglary, and first degree assault and battery. R. 478 – 480; R. 484. Appellant was also convicted of three counts of second degree assault and battery as lesser included offenses of attempted murder. R. 481 – 483. The jury found appellant not guilty of one count of possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. R. 444, ll: 10-13.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

State's witness Xavier Harris had a child with appellant's sister and had seven charges pending at the time of his testimony. R. 165, ll. 1-3; R. 184, ll. 10-11; R. 206, l. 17 – 208, l. 3. Harris admitted he had two counts of second degree criminal domestic violence pending, but when asked if he was facing a third charge of domestic violence, he said, "I ain't sure about that." R. 209, l. 4 – 210, l. 2. Harris did, according to the solicitor. R. 207, ll. 24-25. Harris had also been convicted of dealing drugs. R. 202, l. 15 – 206, l. 8.

It was undisputed that appellant lived within two miles of his "baby sister" and would regularly visit her and her daughter; appellant's two-year old niece. R. 343, ll. 14-17; R. 344, l. 6 – 345, l. 15; R. 168, ll. 8-15; R. 170, ll. 2-4; R. 177, ll. 10-11; R. 229, l. 22 – 230, l. 3. Appellant regularly visited them three to four times a week. R. 345, l. 11 – 346, l. 7; R. 177, ll. 10-11.

On February 27, 2016, appellant was told Harris had been beating his sister again, and he went to speak with Harris at his sister's house. R. 346, l. 13 – 347, l. 2. Appellant testified that Harris had attacked his sister on "numerous occasions. This is not the first incident." R. 356, ll. 12-14. Appellant testified he knocked, his sister let him in, and he confronted Harris about abusing his sister. R. 346, l. 20 – 347, l. 5. Appellant admitted he woke Harris and punched him on the nose. R. 347, ll. 6-11.

According to Harris, he was asleep when appellant came in, woke him up, and hit him in the face. R. 186, l. 20 – 188, l. 25. Harris put peroxide and a band aid over the cut on his nose. R. 178, ll. 18-24. Harris claimed that before appellant left, he said he would shoot Harris, although appellant denied this claim. R. 347, ll. 13-18; R. 187, l. 22 – 188, l. 2. Harris said appellant left in a white Lincoln town car. R. 188, ll. 3-6.

Harris called the police and appellant was charged with burglary. R. 188, ll. 7-8.

Appellant's sister (hereinafter Ms. Bland) said that when appellant came over, he knocked, she opened the door and stood to the side, and appellant "just came right on in." R. 170, l. 12 – 171, l. 9. Ms. Bland testified that appellant did not push past her or rush past her. R. 171, ll. 4-5.

Q. You—he pushed you out of the way is what you told us previously.

A. No. He didn't—he didn't really push me, because I was really to the side. So he just came right on in.

R. 171, ll. 6-9.

Ms. Bland agreed that she had not invited appellant over, but said he came over all the time. She said appellant was welcome to come over when he wanted to. R. 169, l. 25 – 170, l. 8. Ms. Bland told Deputy Robertson that appellant was "uninvited," but she did not say his entry into the house was "unwanted." R. 221, ll. 7-9; R. 233, l. 21 – 234, l. 8.

The state argued the burglary was the basis for charging appellant with first degree assault and battery for punching Harris. R. 370, ll. 5-25; R. 422, ll. 16-18. In closing, the solicitor told the jury that if it found appellant "had consent to be in there, he didn't commit assault and battery first degree." R. 380, ll. 11-17.

At the close of the state's case, appellant moved for a directed verdict on the burglary, and argued the state had not produced evidence that appellant's entry into the house was without the consent of his sister, who was in lawful possession of the home. R. 317, l. 13 – 24. Counsel noted the testimony was that appellant "came over there and entered into her house the same way he had many, many times in the past." R. 318, ll. 1-2. "[S]he testified that he knocked, she opened the door, and she was sort of standing off to the side when he walked in. I believe that is conclusive with regard to he had her consent." R. 318, ll. 2-6.

The state argued that the sister's statement appellant was "uninvited" was sufficient to send the case to the jury. R. 319, ll. 10-18. The solicitor also cited *State v. Dixon*,¹ even though there had been no evidence appellant used fraud or deceit to enter. Defense counsel responded that there had been no evidence appellant tried to "trick" his sister to get into the house. R. 321, l. 12 – 322, l. 1. However, the court denied the directed verdict motion. R. 322, ll. 16-19.

Late the next night, someone fired several shots into appellant's sister's home. R. 191, ll. 6-12; R. 192, ll. 7-10. Harris, Ms. Bland, and her child were in the home but got on the floor and were fortunately unharmed. R. 192, ll. 14-19. The state alleged appellant shot into the home in retaliation for being charged with burglary, and insinuated that he thought his sister and niece were away from home during the shooting. R. 137, ll. 13-17; R. 360, ll. 11-13. Neither Harris nor Ms. Bland saw who did the shooting.

John Coleman, who lived next door, heard the shots and called 911. R. 151, ll. 4-5; R. 155, ll. 4-5. Coleman told the 911 operator that he did not see a car. R. 155, ll. 12-13. However, Coleman testified that after he heard the shots, he saw a white Mercury that was "like a" Continental or "Crown Vic." R. 152, l. 16 – 154, l. 17. When officers arrived, he told them he had seen a white car. R. 156, ll. 17-19.

After hearing Coleman saw a white car, Harris "made the assumption" it was appellant because of their "r[un] in[]" the previous day, and Harris told officers appellant was the shooter, although Harris had not seen the shooter or the car. R. 213, l. 1 – 214, l. 7. Police issued a "BOLO" for appellant's vehicle based on this information. R. 277, ll. 3-8. It was undisputed that appellant was seen shortly thereafter and failed to stop when signaled by police officers, and that a chase ensued for ten to fifteen minutes. R. 256, l. 14 – 258, l. 24; R. 277, ll. 6-11. Once the car

¹ *State v. Dixon*, 337 S.C. 455, 523 S.E.2d 784 (Ct. App. 1999).

stopped, appellant was cooperative with the arrest on the outstanding burglary warrant. R. 258, ll. 19-20. There was no gun in his car. R. 228, ll. 14-16.

However, when officers attempted to collect a gunshot residue (GSR) kit from appellant in booking, appellant refused to consent. R. 278, ll. 2-4. Lieutenant Smith obtained a search warrant to swab appellant's person for gunshot residue and did so. R. 278, ll. 14-17. However, officers did not tell appellant they had a search warrant, and he continued to struggle. R. 365, ll. 2-5; R. 261, l. 23 – 262, l. 5; R. 286, ll. 14-22. Smith said their policy was not to read the search warrant to the suspect until after they had completed a search. R. 286, ll. 17-18. Four officers "had to physically force him to give it to us." R. 278, ll. 16-17.

The search warrant was made a court's exhibit. R. 278, ll. 5-6. R. 460 – 463. The judge noted the "affidavit on the search warrant has some issues in it . . ." R. 91, l. 25 – 1.

On February 29th, Lieutenant Smith wrote in the warrant affidavit that the reason he was seeking to search appellant for GSR was that on February 28th, deputies

responded to a shooting into the dwelling located at [redacted] Wheatfield Drive. Deputies had worked **an incident** on the 27th of February 2016 at this address involving a **subject** driving a white Lincoln and arrest warrants were signed. Deputies attempted to arrest the subject but could not locate. Shortly, the shooting incident took place at the same address and a neighbor witness a box style Lincoln leave the area. Deputies did locate the vehicle in the area and a vehicle pursuit started. Deputies did arrest the subject identified as Terrance Lee Bland.

R. 461.

Gunshot primer residue was ultimately found on appellant's left hand and on his sweatshirt.² R. 303, ll. 10-18; R. 305, l. 21 – 306, l. 5; R. 311, ll. 7-9.

² Appellant's sweatshirt was taken without a search warrant from his property at the jail. R. 280, ll. 3-11.

Defense counsel moved to suppress the GSR kit evidence, arguing the magistrate did not consider the *Schmerber* factors³ when it issued the search warrant, and that the search warrant affidavit was misleading. R. 63, ll. 13 – 66, l. 12; R. 72, l. 12-17. Defense counsel argued the GSR test was a bodily intrusion and the state failed to show factors that must be considered by the magistrate before issuing a warrant that authorized a bodily intrusion. Counsel cited *State v. Register* for the articulation of those factors. R. 87, l. 13– 88, l. 17.

The court stated the intrusion on appellant was “minimal.” R. 123, ll. 22-23. The trial court found that as an “issue of first impression,” no search warrant was needed before performing a GSR test on appellant’s person, and that alternatively, even if one was required, the search warrant obtained was proper. R. 123, l. 20– 124, l. 5.

³ *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 767 (1966).

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred when it failed to direct a verdict of acquittal on first degree burglary where there was no substantial circumstantial evidence appellant entered the dwelling without consent.

Standard of review

“Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” *State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011). “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” *Id.* at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” *Id.* at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; *see also State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013).

If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any **substantial circumstantial evidence** reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. *Hepburn*, 406 S.C. at 416, 753 S.E.2d at 409 (emphasis added); *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48; 50 (2011).

Discussion

The court erred in denying appellant’s motion for a directed verdict on the burglary since the evidence in the light most favorable to the state was only that appellant had not been verbally invited in by his sister, where it was undisputed appellant visited his sister three to four times a week. Defense counsel was correct when he argued that whether appellant had been invited over to start with was irrelevant since appellant’s sister allowed him in, as she always did.

S.C. Code Ann. §16-11-310(3) provides that “enters a building without consent” means to “enter a building without the consent of the person in lawful possession,” or to “enter a building by using deception, artifice, trick, or misrepresentation to gain consent to enter from the person in lawful possession.”

Ms. Bland said that appellant knocked, she opened the door and stood to the side, and appellant “just came right on in.” R. 170, l. 12 – 171, l. 9. Despite the solicitor’s attempts to lead her as a hostile witness, Ms. Bland testified that appellant did not push past her or rush past her. R. 171, ll. 4-5; R. 171, ll. 6-9.

It was undisputed appellant and his sister visited regularly and lived less than two miles apart. She was not surprised by his appearance or his entry. Ms. Bland said appellant came over all the time and was welcome to come over when he wanted. R. 169, l. 25 – 170, l. 8. She told police that on this occasion he was “uninvited,” but she did not say his entry into the house was “unwanted.” R. 221, ll. 7-9; R. 233, l. 21 – 234, l. 8.

The solicitor’s reliance on *State v. Dixon*, 337 S.C. 455, 523 S.E.2d 784 (Ct. App. 1999), was erroneous, as defense counsel correctly pointed out there was no evidence appellant used fraud or trickery to get in the home.

Denial of a directed verdict motion is only proper where viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, the evidence could induce a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty. *State v. Pearson*, 415 S.C. 463, 474, 783 S.E.2d 802, 808 (2016). “[I]n ruling on a directed verdict motion where the State relies on circumstantial evidence, the court must determine whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” *State v. Bennett*, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016). Here, the evidence was insufficient to allow the jury to find appellant entered

his sister's home without consent beyond a reasonable doubt, and the court erred when it failed to direct a verdict of acquittal on this offense.

Because the evidence was insufficient to support a verdict of guilty on the burglary charge, appellant's conviction for first degree assault and battery must also be vacated, since burglary was an element of the offense relied upon by the state.

The trial court erred where it ruled a search warrant was not needed for gunshot residue testing where the suspect refused to consent and where the judge erroneously ruled in the alternative that the search warrant obtained was valid since it did not specify how the prior incident provided probable cause to believe appellant was the shooter in this incident.

Standard of review

On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, the appellate court reviews questions of law *de novo*. *State v. Bash*, 419 S.C. 263, 268, 797 S.E.2d 721, 723–24 (2017). “As to a circuit court’s finding of fact, we must affirm if there is any evidence to support it, and may reverse only for clear error.” *Id.* (internal quotations omitted).

Discussion

The search warrant sought a bodily intrusion and was invalid as it did not provide sufficient information to constitute probable cause, appellant was the person who shot into the home. The court’s incorrect determination the state did not need a search warrant strongly shaded the judge’s analysis in his alternative ruling that the search warrant, if needed, was valid.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has addressed the requirements of an order issued pursuant to South Carolina’s search warrant statute⁴ as it regards procuring “evidence from a person’s body.” *In re Snyder*, 308 S.C. 192, 195, 417 S.E.2d 572, 574 (1992), held that the considerations for determining whether or not there exists probable cause to permit the acquisition of “involuntary nontestimonial identification evidence” are: “probable cause to believe the suspect has committed the crime;” “a clear indication that relevant material evidence will be found;” and “the method used to secure it is safe and reliable.” “Additional factors to be

⁴ S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140.

weighed are the seriousness of the crime and the importance of the evidence to the investigation. The judge is required to balance the necessity for acquiring [the] evidence against constitutional safeguards prohibiting unreasonable bodily intrusions, searches, and seizures.” *Id*; accord *State v. Register*, 308 S.C. 534, 419 S.E.2d 771 (1992).

“An order issued pursuant to § 17-13-140 that allows the government to procure evidence from a person’s body constitutes a search and seizure under the Fourth Amendment.” *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 53, 625 S.E.2d 216, 222 (2006).

In seeking a GSR test on appellant regarding the shooting, the search warrant affidavit only said that three days before, police had responded to “an incident” involving “a subject” at the same address as the shooting. R. 460 – 463. The affidavit did not say what the prior incident was, or how it was relevant to the shooting. It did not even specify that appellant was the suspect in the prior incident. This information was insufficient to provide “probable cause to believe the suspect has committed the crime” and “a clear indication that relevant material evidence will be found” pursuant to *Snyder* and *Register*.

As to the seriousness of the crime, the search warrant only specified “a shooting into the dwelling.” This offense carries up to ten years imprisonment. While this offense is not minor, it is not as serious as a homicide.

There was not enough information provided in the affidavit to adduce the importance of the evidence to the investigation.

“The overriding function of the Fourth Amendment is to protect personal privacy, and dignity against unwarranted intrusion by the State.” *Schmerber v. California*, 384 U.S. 757, 767 (1966); U.S. CONST. amend. IV. The Fourth Amendment constrains “against intrusions which are not justified in the circumstances, or which are made in an improper manner.” *Id.* at 768.

The United States Supreme Court in *Maryland v. King*, 569 U.S. 435, 446 (2013), found a buccal swab taken as part of a typical arrest procedure was a minimal intrusion. However, of note is the Court's reasoning that the process was in line with Fourth Amendment jurisprudence that allowed "police to take certain routine administrative steps incident to arrest—*i.e.*, booking, photographing, and fingerprinting." *Id.* at 461 (internal quotations and alterations omitted). "[T]here can be little reason to question the legitimate interest of the government in knowing for an absolute certainty the identity of the person arrested, in knowing whether he is wanted elsewhere, and in ensuring his identification in the event he flees prosecution." *Id.* (internal quotations omitted).

The United States Supreme Court found a bodily "intrusion undertaken" when a suspect's fingernails were scraped. *Cupp v. Murphy*, 412 U.S. 291, 296 (1973). It found a bodily intrusion where a person's inner cheek was swabbed. *Maryland v. King*, 569 U.S. at 446. *See also Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 26 (1968) (pat-down of outer clothes "intrusion upon the sanctity of the person"). That a bodily intrusion was involved is apparent since four officers had to forcibly restrain appellant against his will to obtain the sample by swabbing his arms and hands. It is clear appellant did not wish the intrusion, as evidenced by his refusal and struggle that required officers "to physically force him to give it to us." R. 278, ll. 16-17. As noted above, officers did not tell appellant they had a warrant.