STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

ORIGINAL

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-002406

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TERRANCE L. BLAND,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

FEB 19 2019

SC Court of Appeals

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

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

In summary, the State produced evidence from which a jury could (and did) conclude that Appellant did not have consent to enter his sister's home on the night in question. The jurors heard direct evidence in the form of Okeava's testimony that Appellant entered the home without notice, invitation, or even a word spoken. They also heard Deputy Robertson's testimony that

Okeava told him Appellant's entry was "unwanted." R. 233. The State also presented substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant's did not receive consent to enter. Appellant's pre-formed intent to assault Xavier shows that his visit was not a friendly one, in contrast to the typical visit to which Okeava was accustomed. That Okeava followed him down the hall tends to show she was taken by surprise by his sudden entrance and did not want him to barge into her bedroom. Finally, the jury was in a much better position than this Court to determine whether Okeava was being truthful when she denied telling the solicitor that Appellant "rushed" or "pushed" past her on his way in. The trial court correctly submitted the case to the jury.

II.

The trial court correctly determined police did not need a search warrant to collect gunshot residue from Appellant's hands after his arrest. Regardless, no constitutional violation occurred because police obtained a valid search warrant.

The trial court correctly held that the collection of gunshot residue from Appellant's hands following his arrest did not violate the United States Constitution's Fourth Amendment prohibition against unreasonable search and seizure. Even though police obtained a valid search warrant before collecting GSR from Appellant's hands, it was not necessary to do so. The evanescent nature of GSR, the government's great need for the evidence, the minimal invasion of Appellant's bodily sovereignty, and the government's right to search incident to a lawful arrest justified the collection of GSR by swabbing Appellant's hands. Furthermore, GSR was collected from the sweatshirt Appellant was wearing, making the GSR from his hand cumulative. This court should affirm.

Standard of Review

On appeals from a motion to suppress based on Fourth Amendment grounds, this Court applies a deferential standard of review and will reverse if there is clear error. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010). When reviewing a magistrate's decision to issue a search warrant, the "duty of a reviewing court is simply to ensure that the magistrate had a 'substantial basis' for ... conclud[ing] that probable cause existed. This review, like the determination by the magistrate, is governed by the 'totality of the circumstances' test. On review, great deference should be given to a magistrate's determination of probable cause." State v. Keith, 356 S.C. 219, 223, 588 S.E.2d 145, 147 (Ct. App. 2003) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

Discussion

The Fourth Amendment provides: “The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. The threshold question in this case is whether the government conducted a search. No reasonableness requirement exists for government conduct that does not implicate the Fourth Amendment. United States v. Dionisio, 410 U.S. 1, 15 (1973).

Obtaining and examining evidence from a person is a search if doing so infringes an expectation of privacy. Skinner v. Ry. Labor Executives' Ass'n, 489 U.S. 602, 616 (1989). One line of Supreme Court cases analyzes intrusions “into” a suspect’s body for physiological data. See, e.g., Maryland v. King, 569 U.S. 435 (2013) (buccal swab from inside suspect’s cheek was a search because it was an “intrusio[n] into the human body”); Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757 (1966) (blood draw of DUI suspect was a search); Cupp v. Murphy, 412 U.S. 291 (1973) (taking fingernail scrapings from suspect was a search). This type of government conduct implicates the Fourth Amendment because it infringes on the sanctity of the human body and may compromise privacy interests in one’s medical data. See Skinner, 489 U.S. at 616 (drug tests, including breath tests, seeking physiological data which may reveal “private medical facts” implicate the Fourth Amendment). Another line of cases focuses on evidence of a person’s bodily characteristics obtained without intrusion into the body and that do not reveal the person’s private medical data. See, e.g., Davis v. Mississippi, 394 U.S. 721 (1969) (fingerprinting “involves none of the probing into an individual’s private life and thoughts that marks an interrogation or search”); United States v. Dionisio, 410 U.S. 1 (1973) (compulsory voice exemplar did not implicate Fourth Amendment privacy concerns).

The United States Supreme Court has not addressed whether swabbing a person's hands for gunshot residue constitutes a Fourth Amendment search. A GSR test does not seek to obtain "physiological data" which may expose private medical facts. Nor does it involve an intrusion into a person's body. Instead, the procedure seeks only to collect a foreign substance from the skin's surface by touching it with a cotton swab. The mere swabbing of a person's skin is more akin to fingerprinting than a blood draw or even a swab inside a person's cheek. The GSR rests on the outside of the body, exposed to the public. While a person is clearly "seized" if police physically restrain him to swab his skin, he is no more searched than if he was covered in someone else's blood and police dabbed a handkerchief against his skin.

Assuming for the sake of argument that a GSR swab constitutes a search, the question becomes whether the police were required to secure a warrant before performing the test. "Although the text of the Fourth Amendment does not specify when a search warrant must be obtained, [the U.S. Supreme Court] has inferred that a warrant must generally be secured." Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. 452, 459 (2011). However, the government need not obtain a warrant in all circumstances. "[T]he Fourth Amendment's proper function is to constrain, not against all intrusions as such, but against intrusions which are not justified in the circumstances." Schmerber v. California, 384 U.S. 757, 768 (1966).

The most important fact in this case for determining whether a warrant was required is that Appellant was under arrest when the test was performed. Making a lawful arrest automatically entitles the government to search the arrestee. As explained by the United States Supreme Court in United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218 (1973):

A custodial arrest of a suspect based on probable cause is a reasonable intrusion under the Fourth Amendment; that intrusion being lawful, a search incident to the arrest requires no additional justification. It is the fact of the lawful arrest which establishes the authority to search, and we hold that in the case of a lawful

custodial arrest a full search of the person is not only an exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment, but is also a 'reasonable' search under that Amendment.

Id. at 235.

However, the Supreme Court has recognized that there are limits on the extent to which police may search a person's body incident to arrest. In Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016), the Court explained that arrest upon probable cause for DUI entitles the government to compel a breath test to determine the driver's blood alcohol level, but does not automatically entitle the government to conduct a blood draw. The crucial distinction is that a blood draw requires a much more intrusive violation of a person's bodily sovereignty. Rather than requiring a person to blow into a plastic tube, a blood draw entails piercing the suspect's skin with a needle in order to confiscate a part of their body. Id. at 2178. After recognizing the type of search at issue did not exist at the founding and therefore contemporary case law was not instructive, the Court utilized a balancing test to determine whether the government should be required to secure a warrant in this situation. The Court decided the constitutionality of the search "by assessing, on the one hand, the degree to which it intrudes upon an individual's privacy and, on the other, the degree to which it is needed for the promotion of legitimate governmental interests." Id. at 2176 (2016) (quoting Riley v. California, 134 S.Ct 2473, 2484). It determined the breath test was a permissible search incident to arrest because the test was a minimal inconvenience that did not "implicate significant privacy concerns" in part because, unlike blood, "air that humans exhale is not part of their bodies." Id. The Court cited King and Murphy as cases where the Court applied a balancing test to conclude the swab of suspect's inner cheek in King and fingernail scrapings in Murphy constituted "negligible" intrusions that did not require a warrant, even though those tests extracted "physiological data."

The same balancing test is appropriate in this case, and all of the factors favor the State. First, Appellant had been lawfully arrested upon probable cause for shooting into his sister's house and failing to stop for a blue light, and also had pending arrest warrants related to the burglary charge. "[O]nce placed under arrest, the individual's expectation of privacy is necessarily diminished." Birchfield, 136 S. Ct. at 2177. Appellant does not contest the legality of his detention.

Second, the privacy interest was insignificant. The trial court accurately described the intrusion caused by the GSR test "minimal at worst." As discussed, the test does not intrude into a person's body and does not reveal any physiological data. It is quick, painless, and causes no further inconvenience to someone already under arrest.

Third, GSR is highly evanescent and easily destroyed. It fits squarely within the rationale allowing a search incident to arrest—to prevent the destruction of evidence. See Murphy, 412 U.S. at 296 (rationale of search incident to arrest exception "justified the police in subjecting him to the very limited search necessary to preserve the highly evanescent evidence they found under his fingernails").

Fourth, the government's need for the evidence was great. Appellant was apprehended shortly after the shooting, near the scene, in a car fitting the description provided by the neighbor. However, police did not recover a gun from the vehicle. The GSR test provided probative evidence that Appellant had recently fired a gun and was a crucial element of the State's case. For all the foregoing reasons, no warrant was required to swab Appellant's hands incident to his arrest.

Although the U.S. Supreme Court has not addressed the need for a warrant for a post-arrest GSR test, other courts have. In United States v. Johnson, the Fifth Circuit Court of

Appeals persuasively explained that the warrantless collection of GSR evidence from an individual whom the police have arrested and have probable cause to believe has recently fired a gun in the course of committing a crime does not violate the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures. United States v. Johnson, 445 F.3d 793, 795–96 (5th Cir. 2006) (“Because the presence of gun powder on his hands was relevant evidence that Johnson (or merely time) could have eventually removed or destroyed, if his arrest was valid, the performance of the gun powder residue test was lawful, and the admission of the results at trial was proper.”). See also Jones v. State, 213 Md. App. 483, 501, 74 A.3d 802, 812 n. 8 (2013) (collecting cases from state and federal courts holding a warrant is not necessary to collect GSR from a suspect when police have probable cause).

The Jones court also found the search was justified under the exigent circumstances exception to the warrant requirement because the evanescent nature of GSR necessitates its prompt collection or it will be lost forever. Id. (recognizing “GSR evidence remains detectable on a person's hands for only a limited period of time after a shooting, and that it is easily destroyed”); see also Schmerber, 384 U.S. at 772 (seizure of DUI suspect’s blood did not violate Fourth Amendment where there was no time to secure a warrant and test was performed in a “reasonable manner”). The determination whether a law enforcement officer faced an emergency that justified acting without a warrant is examined under the totality of circumstances. Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141, 149 (2013). Unlike alcohol in the blood, which takes hours to metabolize, GSR can be rubbed or washed off by its carrier. In any case, it will not remain on a person’s hands for more than four to six hours. R. 307. Although the police were able to obtain a warrant in this case, the destructibility of GSR is a factor relevant in a search incident to arrest analysis as well. Murphy, 412 U.S. at 296 (relevant factors include the

existence of probable cause, the extent of the intrusion, and the “ready destructibility of the evidence.”).

The foregoing authority establishes that police may perform a GSR test on an arrestee without first securing a search warrant. However, in this case the police obtained a valid search warrant before performing the test, and the affidavit contained sufficient facts to establish probable cause and justify the magistrate’s issuance of the warrant. It explained Appellant was arrested in the area of the shooting, following a vehicle pursuit, driving the type of car seen by an eyewitness leaving the scene of the shooting. The warrant was signed hours after the incident took place. R. 111. The affidavit mentioned the burglary incident from the night before without explicitly naming Appellant as the suspect in that case, but it did state the same type of car was used in both incidents.

Though Appellant relies on In Re Snyder, 308 S.C. 192, 417 S.E.2d 572 (1992), to support his argument that the affidavit was not specific enough, the additional factors to be included in a warrant enumerated in that case only apply to “bodily intrusions” carrying a significant privacy interest, such as a blood draw, and where there is no danger of imminent destruction of evidence. See Gantt v. State, 354 S.C. 183, 187, 580 S.E.2d 133, 135 (2003). Therefore, those additional factors were not required to be included in the warrant in this case. Even if they were, the affidavit in this case was specific enough to pass muster under the applicable deferential standard of review. See State v. Sanders, 388 S.C. 292, 298, 696 S.E.2d 592, 595 (Ct. App. 2009) (providing deferential review of magistrate’s decision to issue warrant after balancing “the necessity for acquiring involuntary nontestimonial identification evidence against constitutional safeguards prohibiting unreasonable bodily intrusions, searches, and seizures”). Although Appellant complains the warrant did not explain how GSR would be

“important to the investigation,” basic common sense supplies the answer. Common sense also dictates that shooting a gun into an occupied dwelling is a serious crime, though admittedly “not as serious as a homicide.” Brief of Appellant, 12. Finally, the affidavit specified that a gunshot residue test would be performed, the safety and reliability of which is common knowledge in the judicial and law enforcement community. Though the magistrate did not explicitly list all of the Snyder factors, the evidence supports his decision to issue the warrant.

Finally, the GSR recovered from Appellant’s hand is cumulative to the GSR discovered on the sweatshirt he was wearing when he was arrested shortly after the incident. Police may seize and search an arrestee’s clothing upon his arrival at a detention center. United States v. Edwards, 415 U.S. 800, 803–04 (1974) (“Nor is there any doubt that clothing or other belongings may be seized upon arrival of the accused at the place of detention and later subjected to laboratory analysis or that the test results are admissible at trial.”). Any error in the admission of the GSR for Appellant’s hand is harmless.

In summary, no warrant was necessary to perform the GSR test. Assuming without conceding the test was a search implicating the Fourth Amendment, the police were entitled to perform the test incident to Appellant’s valid arrest because the State’s need was great and the impact on Appellant’s privacy was slight. Regardless, the question is moot because police obtained a valid search warrant prior to the test. Finally, the GSR from Appellant’s hand is cumulative to the GSR collected from his sweatshirt. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION